



King's Research Portal

DOI:

[10.1136/bmj.m1627](https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1627)

Document Version

Peer reviewed version

[Link to publication record in King's Research Portal](#)

Citation for published version (APA):

Wilson, C. A., Finch, E., Kerr, C., & Shakespeare, J. (2020). Alcohol, smoking, and other substance use in the perinatal period. *The BMJ*, 369, Article m1627. <https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1627>

Citing this paper

Please note that where the full-text provided on King's Research Portal is the Author Accepted Manuscript or Post-Print version this may differ from the final Published version. If citing, it is advised that you check and use the publisher's definitive version for pagination, volume/issue, and date of publication details. And where the final published version is provided on the Research Portal, if citing you are again advised to check the publisher's website for any subsequent corrections.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the Research Portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognize and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the Research Portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the Research Portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact librarypure@kcl.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Practice Pointer

Alcohol, smoking and other substance use in the perinatal period

Claire A Wilson, Emily Finch, Catherine Kerr, Judy Shakespeare

*Dr Claire A Wilson, Section of Women's Mental Health, PO31 King's College London, De Crespigny Park, London, SE5 8AF and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

E-mail: claire.wilson@kcl.ac.uk; tel: 07729 324100, ORCID ID: 0000-0003-2169-5115

*corresponding author

Dr Emily Finch, Consultant Psychiatrist and Clinical Director, Addictions Clinical Academic Group, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK,
emily.finch@slam.nhs.uk

Ms Catherine Kerr, service user

Dr Judy Shakespeare, retired GP, judy.shakespeare@virginmedia.com

Authors' contributions

CAW conceived the project and consulted with EF, CK and JS in devising the scope. CW drafted the initial manuscript and EF, CK and JS provided review and editing of the final version.

Conflicts of interest

Authors declare no competing interests.

Alcohol, smoking and other substance use in the perinatal period

What you need to know

- Ask about substance use in all women who are pregnant or planning pregnancy.
- Early brief interventions may be effective when delivered by non-specialists in the primary care setting.
- Support for women who use substances during pregnancy may involve liaison with other services such as midwifery and specialist drug and alcohol services.

Commented [tn1]: The 3rd point is too long and it's not clear what the take home message there is. I suggest choosing something else

Commented [WC2R1]: I have altered this.

Many women use substances during pregnancy. For example, global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy is 9.8%.¹ Moreover, 10.4% of pregnant women in England were known to be smoking tobacco at the time of delivery² and prevalence of cannabis use during pregnancy in a UK cohort has previously been reported as 5%³ but is likely to increase over coming years.⁴ Pregnancy may be a woman's first time engaging with health services and may be a motivator to stop or reduce her substance use.⁵ Yet many clinicians feel ill equipped to advise women on their substance use during this period. In this article we offer an overview of assessment and interventions for substance use in the perinatal period. We focus on alcohol, tobacco and cannabis use, as these are more commonly encountered by the generalist clinician⁶; we focus less on the more complex population engaging in polysubstance use.

Commented [tn3]: in the UK?

Commented [WC4R3]: Have added.

Exploring substance use in pregnancy

The World Health Organisation recommend healthcare providers ask all pregnant women about substance use (past and present) as early as possible in pregnancy and at every antenatal visit.⁷ When asked about substance use, the woman may feel able unable to disclose this as she may feel judged or worry that her parenting ability will be questioned. Therefore such enquiry is best done by a professional who the woman trusts and with whom she has established a rapport, preferably in the preconception period.⁸ Suggestions for what to ask in the consultation are listed in Box 1. Such questions may include type and quantity of substances used and impact on daily life, which is important to consider when evaluating risk.

Ask about symptoms of anxiety and depression⁹ and physical ill health. Consider the broader stressors occurring alongside substance use; are there others in the family or household who are also using substances? Be aware that substance use can be associated with violence, abuse and exploitation.¹⁰ Such histories in which there are high levels of social, medical and psychological morbidity and polysubstance use may raise safeguarding concerns about risk for the mother, her unborn infant and wider family.¹¹ Always explain conditions under which you may have to breach confidentiality,¹² if you need to make a safeguarding referral discuss this with the woman beforehand whenever possible and provide ongoing support.

Managing substance use in pregnancy

Develop and agree a management plan in collaboration with the woman, based on a risk-benefit discussion informed by up-to-date evidence. The plan will differ with the type and level of substances used and local availability of services.

Offer brief interventions early in pregnancy for women seeking to reduce or stop their substance use.⁷ Brief interventions are short, structured interventions to encourage behaviour change and Box 2 provides suggestions of questions to ask;¹³ this includes enquiry by the clinician about current level of use and discussion with the woman about the potential risks of substance use and support available.

In primary care there is moderate quality evidence that brief intervention in harmful or hazardous drinkers can reduce alcohol consumption by around a pint of beer (475 ml) or a third of a bottle of wine (250 ml) each week.¹⁴ There is evidence for the effectiveness of interventions as brief as giving a patient information leaflet.¹⁵ However, there is less evidence to support the use of brief interventions for other substances¹⁶ and limited understanding of how this may translate to women in pregnancy.

Following brief intervention, further contact with the woman may be required; this provides an opportunity to develop a relationship and further explore substance use. It is also allows women who are initially ambivalent about change to consider the information that you have given them at the initial contact,¹⁷ although it is also important to emphasise the importance of stopping or reducing use as early in pregnancy as possible. Liaise with midwifery, who can also help in signposting to services such as smoking cessation and who

Commented [tn5]: This paragraph is about what to ask next if the woman discloses substance use, but it feels like there's a chunk missing on the things you might ask/discuss once someone's disclosed substance use. Suggest you start with something about this, eg "Ask about the type and quantity of the substances used." Is there anything else you need to ask about that isn't here or in box 1. Eg have they wanted to cut down since becoming pregnant? Have they been able to? Would they like expert help? Etc. Then that would lead on nicely to considering broader stressors.

Commented [WC6R5]: Have restructured.

Commented [tn7]: What are these? (briefly)

Commented [WC8R7]: Expanded this sentence and added a reference to GMC GMP.

Commented [tn9]: I've divided this paragraph into 2 and suggest a new box: The GP reader wants to know: 1. How do I do this? (first paragraph and box) and 2. are they important enough to not talk about whatever else we were going to discuss in this 10-15 minute consultation (second paragraph)

Commented [WC10R9]: New box added.

Commented [tn11]: I think that for most GPs if they had a patient who disclosed substance use in pregnancy they would consider the pregnancy such an important flag that they'd feel uncomfortable only recommending brief advice within a consultation – or the leaflet mentioned below. Could you offer an answer to this here? Eg should you have a low threshold for offering referral and endeavour to offer the most support available? Or is there a lack of evidence to support that and within the limited resources available should GPs use a more step wise approach tailored to the individual?

Commented [WC12R11]: More discussion around next steps has been added.

Commented [tn13]: Do you want to specify here the population?: women with non-dependant substance use

Commented [tn14]: 1. I feel like you need to describe what these are in more detail here – to make the article more practical. Is this an intervention within the ...

Commented [WC15R14]: Box added.

Commented [tn16]: Another thing missing is some advice on what happens after the brief intervention – is there any follow up? Do you offer referral to those who want to stop ...

Commented [WC17R16]: Extra discussion added.

Commented [tn18]: Use this paragraph to summarise the evidence(the above one is to describe what they are). Given the huge body of evidence in this field I felt that ref 9 was ...

Commented [WC19R18]: Additional references added. Thank you.

Commented [tn20]: This could be potentially misinterpreted as 'just give everyone a leaflet'. This highlights to me that there must be different levels of ...

Commented [WC21R20]: More discussion added about next steps.

sometimes have a specialist midwife for substance misuse. If more extended interventions are required, referral to other services may be necessary. Women who may benefit from referral to specialist drug and alcohol services are those who are dependent on substances such as alcohol and opioids¹⁸ (Box 3), who require substitute prescribing or who have complex comorbidities. A range of psychosocial interventions are available in specialist drug and alcohol services.¹⁹ These women may also benefit from perinatal psychiatry services if they are available.

UK Department of Health guidelines encourage breastfeeding, even in women who continue to misuse substances, except in those using cocaine or crack cocaine or high doses of benzodiazepines.²⁰ Aim to discuss breastfeeding intentions as early in pregnancy as possible, individualising the risk-benefit discussion to the specific substance use profile.

Alcohol

There is no known safe alcohol consumption level in pregnancy so a conversation with a woman who is worried that she has drunk alcohol in early pregnancy can be challenging. Heavy drinking and binge drinking (≥ 8 units for men or ≥ 6 units for women on one occasion) in pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of prematurity and low birth weight^{21 22} and a range of physical, behavioural and learning problems, collectively known as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. Neonates may also experience a withdrawal syndrome. However, it is important to emphasise that this is a dose-response relationship²³ and that the association between lower levels of consumption (< 4 units per week) and adverse outcomes is less clear.²⁴ Nonetheless, current advice from UK and Australian Departments of Health and US Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) is to abstain completely from alcohol in pregnancy.^{19 25 26}

Support pregnant women using alcohol to ideally stop or if not, reduce their alcohol consumption.²⁰ There are a number of screening tools for use in the non-pregnant population, such as the three question AUDIT-C,²⁷ although there is limited evidence for its validity during pregnancy.^{28 29}

For women dependent on alcohol, refer to a service that can support early detoxification,⁷ ideally as an inpatient, with chlordiazepoxide as per usual protocol.³⁰ Advise against stopping drinking suddenly due to life-threatening complications of alcohol withdrawal,

Commented [tn22]: It's not really clear when this would be – dependant users are discussed below, so who are you referring to here? Should GPs follow up patients to see if they've been able to stop with their brief intervention?

Commented [WC23R22]: I hope the paragraph above helps with this.

Commented [tn24]: See comment above this one - What about the woman who wants to cut down or stop but who can't, even after your brief intervention? Should they be referred? Do UK specialist services offer this (is it in their contract?)

Commented [WC25R24]: Again more discussion added to paragraph above about this.

Commented [tn26]: Not clear who 'such' refers to – all who are dependant? Or do you mean those who have mental health problems in addition to drug/alcohol?

Commented [WC27R26]: Altered wording.

Commented [tn28]: Check – 6 units alcohol on one occasion associated with FASDs? It's incredibly common for people in early pregnancy to binge drink before they realise they are pregnant – is there are clear association even here? It's important that this statement doesn't over-generalise or imply that the risks are greater than they are (eg by combining outcomes for regular heavy drinkers with someone who had half a bottle of wine at 4 weeks pregnancy). However, if the risk is the same regardless of the consumption then that would be an important learning point.

Commented [WC29R28]: I have acknowledged this uncertainty a bit more.

such as seizures. There are insufficient data on safety to support use of relapse prevention medication such as acamprosate, disulfiram and naltrexone in pregnancy.³⁰ However, clearly risks of relapse versus maintaining abstinence need to be weighed for each woman.

Tobacco

Smoking during pregnancy is associated with a range of adverse offspring outcomes, including reduced fetal growth.³¹ It is also associated with an increased risk of miscarriage, prematurity, placental abruption and still birth.³¹ Provide information about magnitude of risk; for example in 2018 there were four stillbirths per total 1000 births in England and Wales.³² Risk of stillbirth is estimated to increase by 47% in women who smoke during pregnancy,³³ increasing this risk to almost six in 1000. A dose-response relationship has also been observed; the risk is increased by 9% in women who smoke nine or fewer cigarettes per day versus 52% in women who smoke ten or more.³³

Commented [tn30]: As with alcohol, some absolute and relative risks would enable clinicians to explain the risks more clearly to patients and enable them to make an informed decision.

Commented [WC31R30]: Done.

Offer referral to all pregnant women currently smoking or who have stopped in the last two weeks to specialist smoking cessation services.³⁴ There is moderate to high quality systematic review evidence that psychosocial interventions improve rates of smoking cessation (by 35%) and subsequently reduce rates of low birth weight (by 17%).³⁵ NHS England advise that carbon monoxide testing be offered at antenatal booking and as required throughout pregnancy to identify women exposed to tobacco.³⁶ This may be conducted within a similar framework to the brief intervention discussed above known as 'Ask (smoking status), Advise (results of carbon monoxide screening), Act (refer to smoking cessation services)'.³⁷ Consider alternatives which are likely to be safer than cigarettes, such as nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), within the context of an informed discussion with the woman.^{37 38} Bupropion or varenicline are not indicated for smoking cessation in pregnant or breastfeeding women.³⁰

Commented [tn32]: Ref 26 says moderate-high quality

Commented [tn33]: Or the brief intervention model described above? I'm not sure if 'very brief advice' is the same, although it seems that brief interventions are at least 5 minutes, whereas this seems shorter?

Cannabis

Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC): the major psychoactive component of cannabis, readily crosses the placental barrier.³⁹ Synthetic cannabinoid receptor agonists (SCRAs), e.g. 'Spice', are also potent stimulators of the endocannabinoid system and their safety during pregnancy is unknown. Some observational studies have found an association between cannabis and a range of adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes and longer-term adverse

Commented [tn34]: Observational studies have found an association between...

child neurobehavioral outcomes but others have failed to observe such an association.⁴⁰⁻⁴³ Given this uncertainty,, encourage women using cannabis in pregnancy to achieve complete abstinence.^{30 44} Be aware of the potential for cannabis, when smoked with tobacco, to potentiate adverse effects of both substances.⁴⁵

Quantify how much cannabis is being used and consider a brief intervention in less heavy users but offer referral to specialist drug and alcohol services for heavy users, where more intensive psychosocial interventions may be offered. The questions in Box 1 can help in distinguishing these groups of women for whom cannabis may play a lesser or greater role in their lives.

Commented [tn35]: 'who take / use' – misusing is a judgemental term, and begs the question: is there a way of taking cannabis in pregnancy that isn't misusing it?

Commented [WC36R35]: Changed throughout.

Commented [tn37]: Suggest tying this in with the general advice in the intro – I'd infer from this for that non-heavy users a brief intervention within the consultation or psychosocial intervention are the main options?

Useful resources for clinicians

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health safeguarding learning resources for professionals: <https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/safeguarding-learning-resources>

Smoking cessation: a briefing for midwifery staff:
https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Midwifery_briefing_%20V3.pdf

Patient infographic on electronic cigarettes in pregnancy:
<http://smokefreeaction.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/SIPe-cig-infographic.pdf>

Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists alcohol and pregnancy patient information leaflet: <https://www.rcog.org.uk/en/patients/patient-leaflets/alcohol-and-pregnancy/>

Current guidelines:
UK Department of Health. Drug misuse and dependence: UK guidelines on clinical management (2017).
Available from: <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-misuse-and-dependence-uk-guidelines-on-clinical-management>

British Association for Psychopharmacology (BAP). Consensus guidance on the use of psychotropic medication preconception, in pregnancy and postpartum (2017).
Available from: https://www.bap.org.uk/pdfs/BAP_Guidelines-Perinatal.pdf

World Health Organisation (WHO). Guidelines for the identification and management of substance use and substance use disorders in pregnancy (2014).
Available from: http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/pregnancy_guidelines/en/

British Association for Psychopharmacology (BAP). Evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological management of substance abuse, harmful use, addiction and comorbidity (2012).
Available from: https://www.bap.org.uk/pdfs/BAP_Guidelines-Addiction.pdf

UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Clinical guideline (CG192)- Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance (2018).
Available from: <https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG192>

UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Clinical guideline (CG110)- Pregnancy and complex social factors: a model for service provision for pregnant women with complex social factors (2010).
Available from: <https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG110>

UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Public health guidance 26- How to stop smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth (2010).
Available from: <https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH26>

Commented [WC38]: Tom, in the box above, you changed useful resources to resources for clinicians but there are two patient resources, so we should omit these resources or instead keep title as useful resources.

How patients were involved in the creation of this article

CK has lived experience of the topic. She was consulted throughout the article's production, including its conceptualisation and during the writing process, when she stressed the importance of asking all women about their substance use during pregnancy. She also emphasised the value of professionals discussing referrals to children's social care with the woman prior to the referral being made.

Case scenario

Clare is a 30 year old primip who is delighted to find herself pregnant. She comes to your surgery for confirmation of the pregnancy. You discover that she is smoking 20 cigarettes per day and she is worried that she went to a friend's wedding around the time of conception and drank so much she couldn't remember what had happened until the next day. She also reports occasional recreational use of cannabis.

Next steps:

Advise Clare of the risks of smoking and alcohol and cannabis use during pregnancy. The biggest risk for Clare at present is her smoking.

Offer referral to specialist pregnancy smoking cessation clinic.

Clarify with Clare how much cannabis and alcohol she is using. Brief intervention may be sufficient but if heavier use of either substance, referral to specialist drug and alcohol service may be indicated.

Education into practice

How do you ask women attending your practice to report their pregnancy about their substance use?

What training has your practice nurse received on giving smoking cessation advice to pregnant women?

How many of your pregnant women are smokers and what proportion have been offered smoking cessation advice?

How this article was made

We reviewed relevant UK guidelines and papers from our reference libraries, in addition to reference searches on key papers. Our recommendations are based on these evidence-based guidelines and the literature cited by them.

Box 1- Questions to consider asking about substance use during pregnancy or in women planning a pregnancy

- Ask permission: Is it ok if I ask you some questions about substance use that can affect pregnancy?
- Use third person: Health professionals are encouraged to ask all women in pregnancy about substance use. Is it ok if we explore this?
- Assess types and amounts of substances: What are you taking? How do you use it and how often? Are you using anything else? How much are you spending?
- Is your partner or anybody else in the family also using substances?
- What is your understanding of the impact of the substance use on you and your baby during pregnancy?
- Are you booked with maternity services and receiving antenatal care?
- Have you been referred to any other services such as a specialist addictions service? What are those services currently providing?
- Who is supporting you during pregnancy and after birth?
- Would you like to breastfeed?

Commented [tn39]: Would you ask how much they are spending on it? I'm thinking about the financial impact, that can often be considerable – and a quick way to establish the quantity of consumption??

Commented [WC40R39]: Added.

Commented [tn41]: Do lay people know this term? 'after birth'?

Box 2- Questions to ask in a brief intervention

What is your understanding of how the substances that you are using may affect your pregnancy and baby?

This may be followed by information giving about risks in an empathetic and non-judgemental way.

Have you thought about cutting down?

This may be followed with discussion about perceived barriers to stopping or reducing substance use.

Would you like more information about how we can support you with this?

This may be followed by further information about options for support, with an emphasis on individual responsibility for decision making

Always end by instilling hope that she is capable of change.

Box 3- ICD-11 criteria for dependence¹⁸

For any substance, three or more of the following should have been present together at some time during the previous year:

- Strong desire or compulsion to take the substance.
- Difficulty in controlling substance-taking behaviour, e.g. onset, termination or levels of use.
- Physiological withdrawal state when substance use is stopped or reduced (symptoms vary depending on the substance); may also be associated with use of the substance (or a closely related one) to relieve or avoid the withdrawal symptoms.
- Tolerance, whereby increased doses of the substance are required to achieve effects originally produced by lower doses.
- Neglect of alternative pleasures or interests other than the substance.
- Persistence of substance use despite knowledge of its potential harms.

Box 4- Opioids in the perinatal period: key facts

- Use of opioids (street heroin and other prescribed and non-prescribed opiates) by the mother may lead to withdrawal in the fetus and/or overdose in the mother.⁴⁶ Other possible risks include those from injecting (such as infected injection sites and blood-borne viruses), the effects of co-morbid alcohol, benzodiazepine and stimulant use, poor diet and malnutrition, neglect of personal care, domestic violence and poor engagement with obstetric services.
- Neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS) occurs in between 70 and 95% of neonates exposed to opioids, including opioid substitute therapy (OST) during pregnancy.⁴⁶ Signs include a high-pitched cry, rapid breathing, ineffective sucking and excessive wakefulness.
- Methadone or buprenorphine (as per standard protocols) are prescribed at a dose that stops or minimises illicit opioid use, with a focus on maintaining stability.⁷ Methadone dosing may need to be increased in the third trimester of pregnancy as its metabolism increases.²⁰ Consider split dosing to minimise fetal intoxication or withdrawal.⁴⁷ The choice of buprenorphine versus methadone should be individualised to the patient and switching during pregnancy, particularly if well maintained, is discouraged.⁷
- Generally avoid opioid detoxification during pregnancy; relapse rates are high and risks are greater from failed detoxification and relapse to illicit drug use than from opioid maintenance treatment.^{7 30} However, in particularly stable women who choose detoxification, the second trimester is recommended.²⁰
- Women may relapse after pregnancy. Warn them that they may have lost their tolerance and could overdose unexpectedly.
- If a child of an opioid-using mother has been taken into care after birth, the woman may be more at risk of suicide.⁴⁸
- Opioid use, including methadone and buprenorphine, are not absolute contraindications to breastfeeding.²⁰

Box 5- Benzodiazepines in the perinatal period: key facts

- Benzodiazepine use is often co-morbid with other substance use⁴⁹ and may exacerbate the neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS) associated with opioid use

during pregnancy. However, consider and enquire about benzodiazepine use (including prescribed benzodiazepines) in all pregnant women.

- Evidence is conflicting regarding short- and long-term impacts of benzodiazepines on the developing infant.⁵⁰⁻⁵³ 'Floppy baby syndrome' (including poor muscle tone, hypothermia, lethargy and breathing and feeding difficulties) has been reported in neonates exposed to benzodiazepines in utero. Make women aware of these potential risks but such risks should be weighed against the necessity of their short-term use in, for example, alcohol detoxification.⁷
- WHO guidelines recommend gradual dose reduction using long-acting benzodiazepines at the lowest effective dose, for as long as is required to manage the symptoms of withdrawal. Gradual taper will reduce symptoms of withdrawal. Consider inpatient admission for benzodiazepine detoxification in pregnancy, given the risks of withdrawal such as seizures.⁷
- Benzodiazepines are transferred into breast milk; there is less concern about breastfeeding when taken at normal prescribed doses but higher doses may lead to infant sedation, irritability and withdrawal. As 'normal prescribed doses' may vary internationally and guidelines do not specify, this advice should be applied with caution.⁷

Box 6- Stimulants in the perinatal period: key facts

- Stimulants such as cocaine, amphetamines and mephedrone are all potent vasoconstrictors that can affect the developing fetus at any gestation, leading to the obstetric complications of placental abruption and premature rupture of membranes and a potentially increased risk for congenital anomalies, low birth weight and preterm birth.^{54 55} Advise women using stimulants of these risks and encourage them to stop completely.
- A neonatal withdrawal syndrome has been reported in some infants involving symptoms such as vomiting and restlessness.⁵⁶
- Consider inpatient care in the management of stimulant withdrawal during pregnancy.⁷ There are currently no clinically effective substitute or relapse prevention medications to treat stimulant dependence, making psychosocial interventions the mainstay of treatment.

Commented [tn42]: Affect them how? Are there a couple of common examples?

- Women using stimulants should be advised not to breastfeed.⁷

Commented [tn43]: Should not, or should be advised not to? Or strongly advised not to. And perhaps explain why. I'm conscious of the wording here given the topic.

References

1. Popova S, Lange S, Probst C, et al. Estimation of national, regional, and global prevalence of alcohol use during pregnancy and fetal alcohol syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global Health* 2017;5(3):e290-e99. doi: [https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X\(17\)30021-9](https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30021-9)
2. Public Health England. Health matters: stopping smoking - what works? *London: Public Health England* 2018; <https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works/health-matters-stopping-smoking-what-works>
3. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Northstone K, et al. Maternal use of cannabis and pregnancy outcome. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 2002;109(1):21-27. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2002.01020.x
4. Metz TD, Stickerath EH. Marijuana use in pregnancy and lactation: a review of the evidence. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2015;213(6):761-78. doi: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.05.025>
5. Kendler K, Ohlsson H, Svikis D, et al. The Protective Effect of Pregnancy on Risk for Drug Abuse: A Population, Co-Relative, Co-Spouse, and Within-Individual Analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2017;174(10):954-62. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.16091006
6. Royal College of Psychiatrists and Royal College of General Practitioners. Delivering quality care for drug and alcohol users: the roles and competencies of doctors. *London: Royal College of Psychiatrists* 2012; https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/college-reports/college-report-cr173.pdf?sfvrsn=3e542c73_2
7. WHO. Guidelines for the identification and management of substance use and substance use disorders in pregnancy. *Geneva: World Health Organisation* 2014; http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/pregnancy_guidelines/en/
8. Public Health England. Making the Case for Preconception Care: Planning and preparation for pregnancy to improve maternal and child health outcomes *London: Public Health England* 2018; https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729018/Making_the_case_for_preconception_care.pdf
9. Ross LE, Dennis C-L. The prevalence of postpartum depression among women with substance use, an abuse history, or chronic illness: a systematic review. *Journal of Women's Health* 2009;18(4):475-86.
10. Gilchrist G, Hegarty K. Tailored integrated interventions for intimate partner violence and substance use are urgently needed. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 2017;36(1):3-6. doi: 10.1111/dar.12526
11. Canfield M, Radcliffe P, Marlow S, et al. Maternal substance use and child protection: a rapid evidence assessment of factors associated with loss of child care. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 2017;70:11-27. doi: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.05.005>
12. General Medical Council. Good medical practice. *London: GMC* 2019; <https://www.gmc-uk.org/ethical-guidance/ethical-guidance-for-doctors/good-medical-practice>
13. Hester RK, WR M. Handbook of alcoholism treatment approaches. 2nd ed. . *Boston, MA* 1995

14. Kaner EF, Beyer FR, Muirhead C, et al. Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 2018(2)
15. Kaner E, Bland M, Cassidy P, et al. Effectiveness of screening and brief alcohol intervention in primary care (SIPS trial): pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ : British Medical Journal* 2013;346:e8501. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e8501
16. Beyer F, Lynch E, Kaner E. Brief Interventions in Primary Care: an Evidence Overview of Practitioner and Digital Intervention Programmes. *Current Addiction Reports* 2018;5(2):265-73. doi: 10.1007/s40429-018-0198-7
17. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: toward an integrative model of change. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 1983;51 doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.51.3.390
18. WHO. The ICD-11 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines Geneva: World Health Organisation
19. Department of Health. UK Chief Medical Officers' Alcohol Guidelines Review: Summary of the proposed new guidelines. London: Department of Health 2016;https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489795/summary.pdf
20. Clinical Guidelines on Drug Misuse and Dependence Update 2017 Independent Expert Working Group. Drug misuse and dependence: UK guidelines on clinical management. London: Department of Health 2017;<https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drug-misuse-and-dependence-uk-guidelines-on-clinical-management>
21. Flak AL, Su S, Bertrand J, et al. The Association of Mild, Moderate, and Binge Prenatal Alcohol Exposure and Child Neuropsychological Outcomes: A Meta-Analysis. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 2014;38(1):214-26. doi: doi:10.1111/acer.12214
22. O'Leary C, Nassar N, Kurinczuk J, et al. The effect of maternal alcohol consumption on fetal growth and preterm birth. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 2009;116(3):390-400. doi: doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2008.02058.x
23. Patra J, Bakker R, Irving H, et al. Dose-response relationship between alcohol consumption before and during pregnancy and the risks of low birth weight, preterm birth and small-size-for-gestational age (SGA) – A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Bjog* 2011;118(12):1411-21. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.03050.x
24. Mamluk L, Edwards HB, Savović J, et al. Low alcohol consumption and pregnancy and childhood outcomes: time to change guidelines indicating apparently 'safe' levels of alcohol during pregnancy? A systematic review and meta-analyses. *BMJ Open* 2017;7(7) doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015410
25. Australian Government Department of Health. National Health and Medical Research Council's Australian Guidelines to Reduce Health Risks from Drinking Alcohol <https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/health-topics/alcohol-guidelines> 2009
26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Alcohol and pregnancy <https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/fasd/index.html> 2016
27. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, et al. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption-II. *Addiction* 1993;88(6):791-804. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x

28. Dawson DA, Grant BF, Stinson FS, et al. Effectiveness of the Derived Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT-C) in Screening for Alcohol Use Disorders and Risk Drinking in the US General Population. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 2005;29(5):844-54. doi: 10.1097/01.alc.0000164374.32229.a2
29. O'Connor EA, Perdue LA, Senger CA, et al. Screening and Behavioral Counseling Interventions to Reduce Unhealthy Alcohol Use in Adolescents and Adults: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force USPSTF Report: Screening and Behavioral Counseling to Reduce Unhealthy Alcohol Use USPSTF Report: Screening and Behavioral Counseling to Reduce Unhealthy Alcohol Use. *JAMA* 2018;320(18):1910-28. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.12086
30. McAllister-Williams RH, Baldwin DS, Cantwell R, et al. British Association for Psychopharmacology consensus guidance on the use of psychotropic medication preconception, in pregnancy and postpartum 2017. *Journal of Psychopharmacology* 2017;31(5):519-52. doi: 10.1177/0269881117699361
31. Cohen A, Osorio R, Page LM. Substance misuse in pregnancy. *Obstetrics, Gynaecology & Reproductive Medicine* 2017;27(10):316-21.
32. Office for National Statistics. Births in England and Wales. 2019; <https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsummarytables>
33. Marufu TC, Ahankari A, Coleman T, et al. Maternal smoking and the risk of still birth: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 2015;15(1):239. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1552-5
34. NICE. Pregnancy and complex social factors: A model for service provision for pregnant women with complex social factors. NICE Guidelines CG110. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2010; <https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg110>
35. Chamberlain C, O'Mara-Eves A, Porter J, et al. Psychosocial interventions for supporting women to stop smoking in pregnancy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017(2) doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001055.pub5
36. NHS England. Saving Babies' Lives Version Two. A care bundle for reducing perinatal mortality. . London: NHS England 2019; <https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/saving-babies-lives-version-two-a-care-bundle-for-reducing-perinatal-mortality/>
37. National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. Smoking Cessation: a briefing for midwifery staff. London: Public Health England 2016; https://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Midwifery_briefing_%20V3.pdf
38. NICE. NICE Pathway: Stopping smoking in pregnancy and after childbirth London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2018; <http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/smoking>
39. Jansson LM, Jordan CJ, Velez ML. Perinatal marijuana use and the developing child. *JAMA* 2018;320(6):545-46. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.8401
40. Conner SN, Carter EB, Tuuli MG, et al. Maternal marijuana use and neonatal morbidity. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2015;213(3):422.e1-22.e4. doi: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.05.050>
41. Hayatbakhsh MR, Flenady VJ, Gibbons KS, et al. Birth outcomes associated with cannabis use before and during pregnancy. *Pediatric Research* 2011;71:215. doi: 10.1038/pr.2011.25

42. Sun X, Dey SK. Synthetic cannabinoids and potential reproductive consequences. *Life sciences* 2014;97(1):72-77. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2013.06.018
43. Warner TD, Roussos-Ross D, Behnke M. It's not your mother's marijuana: effects on maternal-fetal health and the developing child. *Clinics in perinatology* 2014;41(4):877-94.
44. Lingford-Hughes AR, Welch S, Peters L, et al. BAP updated guidelines: evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological management of substance abuse, harmful use, addiction and comorbidity: recommendations from BAP. *Journal of Psychopharmacology* 2012;26(7):899-952.
45. Kohut SJ. Interactions between nicotine and drugs of abuse: a review of preclinical findings. *The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse* 2017;43(2):155-70. doi: 10.1080/00952990.2016.1209513 [published Online First: 09/02]
46. Winklbaaur B, Kopf N, Ebner N, et al. Treating pregnant women dependent on opioids is not the same as treating pregnancy and opioid dependence: a knowledge synthesis for better treatment for women and neonates. *Addiction* 2008;103(9):1429-40. doi: doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02283.x
47. Wittmann BK, Segal S. A Comparison of the Effects of Single- and Split-Dose Methadone Administration on the Fetus: Ultrasound Evaluation. *International Journal of the Addictions* 1991;26(2):213-18. doi: 10.3109/10826089109053183
48. Nair M, Knight M, Kurinczuk JJ. Risk factors and newborn outcomes associated with maternal deaths in the UK from 2009 to 2013: a national case-control study. *Bjog* 2016;123(10):1654-62. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13978
49. Jones HE, Kaltenbach K, Heil SH, et al. Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome after Methadone or Buprenorphine Exposure. *The New England journal of medicine* 2010;363(24):2320-31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1005359
50. Ban L, West J, Gibson JE, et al. First trimester exposure to anxiolytic and hypnotic drugs and the risks of major congenital anomalies: a United Kingdom population-based cohort study. *PLoS One* 2014;9(6):e100996.
51. Dolovich LR, Addis A, Vaillancourt JMR, et al. Benzodiazepine use in pregnancy and major malformations or oral cleft: meta-analysis of cohort and case-control studies. *BMJ* 1998;317(7162):839-43. doi: 10.1136/bmj.317.7162.839
52. Mohammad Masud Iqbal, Tanveer Sobhan, Thad Ryals. Effects of Commonly Used Benzodiazepines on the Fetus, the Neonate, and the Nursing Infant. *Psychiatric Services* 2002;53(1):39-49. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.53.1.39
53. Mortensen JT, Olsen J, Larsen H, et al. Psychomotor development in children exposed in utero to benzodiazepines, antidepressants, neuroleptics, and anti-epileptics. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 2003;18(8):769-71. doi: 10.1023/a:1025306304635
54. Forray A, Foster D. Substance use in the perinatal period. *Current psychiatry reports* 2015;17(11):91.
55. McLafferty LP, Becker M, Dresner N, et al. Guidelines for the Management of Pregnant Women With Substance Use Disorders. *Psychosomatics* 2016;57(2):115-30. doi: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2015.12.001>
56. Neonatal Drug Withdrawal. *Pediatrics* 1998;101(6):1079-88.